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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 1:13-cv-24125-GAYLES/Turnoff

VEOLIA TRANSPORTATION
SERVICES, INC,,

Plaintiff/CounterDefendant,
V.
UNITED TRANSPORTATION UNION,

Defendant/Counterd@imant.
/

ORDER

THISMATTER is before the Court on the parties’ cross motions for summary judgment
[ECF Nos. 37 & 38]. Plaintiff Veolia Transportation Services, Ifi¥.eolia”), initiated this
lawsuit on November 13, 201®y filing a complaint to vacate thEederal Mediation and
Conciliation Service (“FMCS™)Arbitration Award No. 1364528-3(“Arbitration Award”) of
Arbitrator Phillip E. Ray(“Arbitrator”). [ECF No. 1]. United Transportation Union (“UTU”)
counterclaimed for enforcement of the Arbitration AwdiEICF No. 9]. The arbitration was
conducted pursuant to a collective bargaining agreement between Veolia and UTU and the
submission of the parties to tebitrator. The Arbitration Award ordered the reinstatement of
Grievant Richard Beall“Beall”) subject to a sbmonth suspension to run concurrent with his
Federal Railroad Administratiosuspension][ECF No. 11 at 13]. This Courtpreviously
remanded the issut the Arbitratorfor proceedings relating to the issue Bé¢all's CSX
Transportation i@qualification and administratively closed the cad&CF No. 47]. The

Arbitrator issued new findirggand conclusions on June 20, 2Q1Award on Remand”)[ECF
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No. 48-1]. Pursuant to thBlotice to Reopen [ECF No. 28] filed tyTU, this Court reopened the
case. A Status Conference was held on October 28, 2015, at which time the partiesctitzess
June 2015 Award on Remand, in which the Arbitrator concluded thait"i@nt shall be returned
to service immediately and paid for all time lost and benefits, consisteimtmyit original
Award.” [ECF No. 8-1 at 12]. Pending before the Court at¢éTU’s Motion for Summary
Judgment [ECF No. 37] an®eolia’s Motion for Summary Judgment [ECF No. 38].
Additionally, Veolia filed a Motion to Supplement the Record [ECF No. 52] on October 30,
2015} to which UTU responded with a Motion to Strike [ECF No. 53] on November 9,.2015
Veolia filed a Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award or, time Alternative, for Additional Briefing
[ECF No. 58] on January 14, 2016. For the reasons stated below, the Court grant's UTU’s
Motion for Summary Judgment, grants Veolia’s Motion to Supplement the Record, denies
Veolia’s Motion for Summary JudgmenteniesUTU’s Motion to Strike? and denies Veolia's
Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award.
BACKGROUND

Grievant Richard Beall was a Locomotive Engineer on a commuter train opeyated b
Veolia on the South Florida Regional Transportation Authority’sREil Commuter Rail
System(“Tri-Rail”). [ECF No. 1 at %]. At the time, Tri-Rail operatd on tracks owned and
dispatched by CSX Transportation (“CSXJ)d. at 19]. CSX hal the authority to determine
whether Veolia's employeasereprohibited from performing services on C$8¥ntrolled tracks

for violation of CSX operating ruledd] at §10].

! The additional documents include various letters and correspondencengdgedll’s status on the South Florida
Rail Corridor, particularly with respect to his disqualificatiynCSX TransportatiorSegECF No. 521].

2 The Motion to Strike is denieas procedurally improper. Motions to strike pursuant to Federal Rulealf{fj to
matters contained in pleadingad a motion to supplement the record is not a pleading because a pleaging un
Federal Rule 7(a) only includes a complaint, an answer, a counterclaim, a crossckicourtordered reply to an
answer See Polite v. Dougherty Cty. Sch. S844 F. App’x 180, 184 n.7 (11th Cir. 2008).
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On September 26, 2012, at approximately 7:32 a.m., Beall violated CSX Operating Rule
44 when operating TRail Train P615 by exceeding theepcribed speely greater than ten
miles per hour, failing to notify the train dispatcher of a warning sign placedelnybers of an
efficiency test team, and continuing to operate the train at excess speed foinagielgx2.5
miles. [ECF No. 38L at f115-21].Due to a series of violatiorsulminating inthis incident,
Beall was issued a Notice of Formal Investigation, a formal investigation heaasdeld, and
Veolia notified Beall that he was terminated from service and that his engedicatewas
revoked for six monthdECF No. lat 1113-18]. Additionally, CSX determined that Beall's
violation of Operating Rule 44 was a major rule violation and prohibited him frorefurt
service on CSx>controlled track. [ECF No. 38 atZl]. Pursuant to the Collective Bargaining
Agreement (“CBA”) between Veolia and UTWTU filed a grievanceand eventually the
parties agreed to submit the matter to arbitrafiBQF No. lat 118 & 18]. Arbitrator Phillip E.
Ray presided over a hearing and subsequently issuédliisation Award on October 14, 2013
[Id. at 120-21].

Arbitrator Ray’s Arbitration Award concluded that Beall had violated CSX Opiexg
Rule 44. [ECF No. 41 at 13. However, the Arbitrator also determined that the discplin
penalty of terminationwas not commensurate with the infraction and that Beall should be
returned to service and made whole for lost wages and benefits caussxdmonth disciplinary
suspension.lfl.]. Veolia filed this suit on November 13, 2013, seeking to have the Arbitration
Award vacated.

This Court remanded the matter to the Arbitrator on October 14, Z6d4urther
proceedings related to Beall's CSX disqualification. [ECF No. 47]. The Atbitaffirmed his

original decision on June 20, 2015 the Award on Remandnd found that Beall should be



returned to service immediately and paid lfust time and benefits consistemith the origiral
Arbitration Award. [ECF No. 48l at 12].0Of note, the Arbitrator concluded that the issue of
Beall's reinstatement with CSX was never pressed by Vealiang the arbitration[ld. at 10-
11]. Further weighing the evidence, including testimony of three individuals and & \éaadhil
from October 11, 2012, the Arbitrator determined that a reqye¥eblia for CSX to reinstate
Beall was a reasonable expectation and that such a réxpoashe Veolia’s obligation upon the
issuance of tharbitration Award. [Id. at 9-11].

On March 29, 2015, CSX’s authority over the railroad tracks in the South FRaidla
Corridor (“SFRC”) ended when its contract with the Florida Department of Transportation
expired. [ECF No. 52 at | 3]. Subsequently, the South Florida Regional Transportation Authority
(“SFRTA”) assumedesponsibility for maintenanand train dispatahg responsibilities of the
SFRC and TrRail. [Id. at T 4]. Beall has not been reinstated pending the outcome of this case,
and SFRTA maintains that Beall “is still disqualified or barred from seoicihe SFRC.” [ECF
No. 521 at 1.

Veolia arguesn its Complainthat this Court should vacate tAebitration Award on the
basis that it “(a) does not draw its essence from the CBA,; (b) is contrary tosaedadds the
express language and the plain, unambiguous meaning of the CBA; (c) adds &utsitaim,
supplements and/or modifies the express terms of the CBA,; (d) is arlitidigapricious insofar
as the Arbitrator exceeded his power to interpret and apply the CBA by immosthg parties
his own brand of industrial justice; (e) is outside the scope of the Arbitrator’s iuthhod (f)
fails to conform, or confine itself, to matters within the scope of the arbisgtaisdiction”

[ECF No. 1 at § 24]in its Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award, Veolia further argues that this

Court shoull vacate the Arbitrator's Awamh Remand from June 20, 2015, because “it does not



draw its essence from the collective bargaining agreement” and because new circumstances
regarding SFRTA'sontinued disqualification of Beglirevent Veolia from complying with the
Arbitration Award. [ECF No. 58 af14-5].

UTU argues in its Amended Counterclaim that Veolia has failed to comply with the
Arbitration Award and that this Court should issue injunctive relief requirieglis to fully
comply with FMCS Award No. 3-545283. [ECF No. 33 at 4]JUTU further responds to
Veolia’s Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award that both the origiAabitration Award andthe
Award on Remandare within the Arbitrator's authority under the CBA and that Veolia’s
argument regarding the changed circumstances of SFRTA should be addressedalipmadmid
not this Court at this time. [ECF No. 89 1-4].

THE AGREEMENT
The CBA between Veolia and UTU provides, in relevant part, as follows:

RULE 23 -DISCIPLINE

B. When an employee ialleged to have committed a major offense, the
employee may be held out of service pending investigation and decision.

A major offense may include, but is not limited to:

2. Extreme negligence.

D. Discipline for just cause, if imposed, depending on the nature of the

incident, can range from a written reprimand, to suspension, to dismissal.

P. If the dispute is not settled, the grievance may be appealed to an impartial
arbitrator .. . . Decisions of the Arbitrator shall have thettaarity only to
rule on the interpretation and application of this Agreement and shall have

no power to either add to or detract from the Agreement.



S. If at any point in this appeals procedure, or in an arbitration proceeding, it
is determined thathe discipline imposed should be modified, the
employee will be paid for all lost time in excess of such modified

discipline.

RULE 24 —CLAIM AND GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

B. Should any grievance arise,.[d]ecisions of the Arbitrator shatlave the
authority only to rule on the interpretation and application of this
Agreement and shall have no power to either add to or detract from the

Agreement.
[ECF No. 374 at 4-8].
THE ARBITRATION AWARD

The issues presented before the Arbitrator werblémwvs: “Did the Carrier [Veolia]
properly find Claimant [Beall] in violation of CSX Operating Rule 44 anas vClaimant’s
termination from service proper and in accordance with the Parties’ Collectigmifiag
Agreement.” [ECF No. - at 4]. The Arbitator examined all the relevant facts in the record and
considered the positions of the partidd. it 2]. Ultimately, the Arbitrator concluded that Beall
had violated CSX Operating Rule 44 but that the discipline imposed was arbidaeyx@essive.
[Id. at 9]. In reaching his conclusion, the Arbitrator “interpret[ed] and applie[d]” th&. CH. at
2]. The Award on Remand reiterated that the original “Award interpreted anddipple CBA
[ECF No. 481 at 2].And the Award on Remand itself “is based on the record” and “interprets

and applies” the CBAI({l. at 5].



LEGAL STANDARD

“The court shall grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine
dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter BéthviR”

Civ. P. 56(a). “By its very terms, this standard provides that the mere existesmm®falleged
factual dispute between the parties will not defeat an otherwise properly sappwtion for
summary judgment; the requirement is that there bgenaineissue ofmaterialfact.” Anderson

v. Liberty Lobby, Ing.477 U.S. 242, 2448 (1986). “[T]he plain language of Rule 56][a]
mandates the entry of summary judgment, after adequate time for discovery and upon mot
against a party who fails to makeshowing sufficient to establish the existence of an element
essential to that party’s case, and on which that party will bear the burden ofapttoaf.”
Celotex Corp. v. Catrettt77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

A “genuine” issue is present when a reasbmdrier of fact, viewing all of the record
evidence, could rationally find in favor of the Aoroving party in light of his burden of proof.
Harrison v. Culliver 746 F.3d 1288, 1298 (11th Cir. 2014). “An issue of fact is ‘material’ if,
under the applidae substantive law, it might affect the outcome of the cadieRson Corp. v.

N. Crossarm C@.357 F.3d 1256, 12580 (11th Cir. 2004) (citations omitted). The Court must
construe the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party andldeas@nable
inferences in that party’s favo6EC v. Monterosso/56 F.3d 1326, 1333 (11th Cir. 2014).
However, to prevail on a motion for summary judgment, “the nonmoving party mustradfe
than a mere scintilla of evidence for its position; indeed, the nonmoving party mkistana
showing sufficient to permit the jury to reasonably find on its beh@ifduilla-Diaz v. Kaplan

Univ., 780 F.3d 1039, 1050 (11th Cir. 2015).



“A district court's disposition of crogsotions for summary judgment employs gamne
legal standards applied when only one party files a moétiGertain Underwriters at Lloyds,
London Subscribing to Policy No. SA 10aR581 v. Waveblast Watersports, |0 F. Supp.
3d 1311, 1316 (S.D. Fla. 2015) (citingnited States v. Oakley44 F.2d 1553, 1555 (11th
Cir.1984)) “Crossmotions may, however, be probative of the absence of a factual dispute where
they reflect general agreement by the parties as to the controlling legal shaadienaterial
facts.”S. Pilot Ins. Co. v. CECS, In&2 F.Supp. 3d 1240, 12438I.D. Ga.2014) (citingOakley
744 F.2d at 1555-56

ANALYSIS

The facts areessentiallyundisputed. The only issue before the Court is whether
Arbitrator exceedd the authority granted to him under the tewhthe parties’ CBA. [ECF No.
1 at 724]; [ECF No. 371 at 1-2]; [ECF No. 382 at 1]. Veolia argues that the Arbitrator
exceeded his jurisdiction because #Arbitration Award ignored the unambiguous language of
the CBA resulting in the issuance of Arbitration Award that failed to draw its essence from
the CBA See[ECF No. 382 at 1]. Veolia further argues that the Award on Remand does not
draw its essence from the CBA and that changed circumstances regarding Beéltsedon
disqualification by SRTA prevent Veolia from complying with the Arbitration Award and the
Award on Remand. [ECF No. 58 ¥§4-5]. UTU argues that the Arbitration Award was proper
and that Veolia simply refuses to reinstate Beall. [ECF Nel &7 2]. UTU also argues that
Veolia's impossibility argument is properly reserved for arbitration, not this Courf [R& 59
at 4].

Section 301 of the Labor Management Relations Act (“LMRA”), 29 U.S.C8%

“governs suits to enforce or vacate an arbitration award arising out of a wellbetigaining



agreement.”United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Mfg., Energy, Allied Indus.&.Se
Workers Int’l Union AFECIO-CLC v. Wise Alloys, LLQWise Alloys ), 642 F.3d 1344, 1352
(11th Cir. 2011).While the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) does not apply to collective
bargaining agreements, 9 U.S.Cl1,8federal courts look to the FAA faguidance when dealing
with 8 301 arbitration casesld. at 1353 n.4.

“A federal courts review of an arbitration award is highly deferential and extremely
limited.” United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Mfg., Energy, Allied Indus. & Serv. Workers
Int'l Union AFL-CIO-CLC v. Wise Alloys, LL@Vise Alloys I}, 807 F.3d 1258, 1271 (11th Cir.
2015).Indeed, the Eleventh Circuit has stated thadicial review of arbitration decisions is
among the narrowest known to the lawlG Baker Sterling Heights, LLC v. Am. Mglfiinema,
Inc., 508 F.3d 995, 1001 (11th Cir. 2007) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The Court’'s role in this action is not “to review the merits of the arbitrator's
interpretation, but only to ask whether it vaaguablybased on the language of the agreement.”
IMC—-Agrico Co. v. Int'l Chem. Workers Council of United Food & Commercial WorkersriJni
AFL-CIO, 171 F.3d 1322, 182(11th Cir. 1999)emphasis added}ee United Steelworkers of
Am. v. Enter. Wheel & Car Corp363 U.S. 593, 599 (1960) (“It is the arbitragsoconstruction
which was bargained for; and so far as the arbit®tdecision concerns construction of the
contract, the courts have no business overruling him because their interpretdtmoarittact is
different from his.”) see also United Paperworkers Int'l Union, AKLIO v. Misco, Inc. 484
U.S. 29, 381987)(“Courts thus do not sit to hear claims of factual or legal error by an arbitrat
as an appellate court does in reviewing decisions of loeerts. .. The arbitrator may not
ignore the plain language of the contract; but the parties having authorized trscartn give

meaning to the language of the agreement, a court should not reject an award on the ground tha



the arbitrator misreadhé contract). “Because the parties bargained for the arbitrator
construction of their agreement, an arbitral decision even arguably construing ongpipéy
contract must stand, regardless of a ¢swrtew of its (de)merits.Oxford Health Plans LLG.

Sutter 133 S. Ct. 2064, 2066 (2013) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The
Seventh Circuit has deftly articulated the standard:

As we have said too many times to want to repeat again, the question for
decision by a federal court askedstt aside an arbitration award. is

not whether the arbitrator or arbitrators erred in interpreting the contract; it
is not whether they clearly erred in interpreting the contract; it is not
whether they grossly erred in interpreting the contract; it is whether they
interpreted the contraclf. they did, their interpretation is conclusive. By
making a contract with an arbitration clause the parties agree to be bound
by the arbitratorsinterpretation of the contract. A party can complain if
the arbitréors dont interpret the contraetthat is, if they disregard the
contract and implement their own notions of what is reasonable or fair. A
party can complain if the arbitratomdecision is infected by fraud or other
corruption, or if it orders an illegalct. But a party will not be heard to
complain  merely because the arbitratorsnterpretation is a
misinterpretation. . . But once the court is satisfied that they were
interpreting the contract, judicial review is at an end, provided there is no
fraud a corruption and the arbitrators haven't ordered anyone to do an

illegal act.
Hill v. Norfolk & W. Ry. Cq.814 F.2d 1192, 11995 (7th Cir. 1987)YPosner, J.) (citations
omitted).
“A court may not vacate an arbitral award unless it is irrational, exceeds treecfdbe
arbitrator’s authority, or fails to draw its essence from the collectivgabang agreement.”
IMC—Agrico, 171 F.3dat 1325 (internal quotation marks and citatiomitted); see alsgOsram

Sylvania, Inc. v. Teamsters Local Union 588 F.3d 1261, 1263 (11th Cir. 1998}ating that
10



the court’s “review of a labor arbitration award ‘is limited to a determination @tiveln an
award is irrational, whether it fails toralv its essence from the collective bargaining
agreement[,] or whether it exceeds the scope of the arbitrator’'s authp(udtingButterkrust
Bakeries v. BCTW Local 36126 F.2d 698, 699 (11th Cir.1984)).

The “award is legitimate only so long as it draws its essence from the tisellec
bargaining agreementWise Alloys Il 807 F.3d at 1272 (quotirignited Steelworkers363 U.S.
at 597). The award “draw[s] its essence from the collective bargaining agreemtre if
interpretation can in any rationalay be derived from the agreement, viewed in the light of its
language, its context, and any other indicia of the parties’ intenWisé Alloys | 642 F.3d at
1351 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). “Under this standard, ‘as lotige as
arhitrator iseven arguably construing or applyitige contract and acting within the scope of his
authority, that a court is convinced he committed serious error does not suffice to overturn hi
decision.” Wise Alloys I} 807 F.3d at 1272 (quotingnited Paerworkers 484 U.S.at 38)
(emphasis added)it is only when the arbitrator strays from interpretation and application of the
agreement and effectively ‘dispense[s] his own brand of industrial judtiaehts decision may
be unenforceable Major League Baseball Players Ass’'n v. Garvgg2 U.S. 504, 509 (2001)
(per curiam) (quotingJnited Steelworkers363 U.S. at 597)Because “arbitrators derive their
powers from the parties’ agreement,” the Court must look to the “mutually agpesad
contract@al provisions in an agreement” to determine the arbitrator's posers.Cat Charter,
LLC v. Schurtenberge646 F.3d 836, 843 (11th Cir. 2011).

An arbitration award cannot contradict the express language of the CBA, nor may an
arbitraor modify clear andunambiguous contract term&/iregrass Metal Trades Council AFL

CIO v. Shaw Envtl. & Infrastructure, Ineé— F. 3d—, 2016 WL 4702017, at3*(11th Cir. Sept.
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8, 2016). However, an arbitrator can interpret language of the CRAdetermine whether the
arbitrator engaged in interpretation, as opposed to modification, we begin by lookimg at t
relevant language in the collective bargaining agreement and asking, as a dhreattel,
whether that language is open to interpretati Id. “A contract may be susceptible to
interpretation when it is not facially ambiguous. .because collectivbargaining agreements
may include implied, as well as express, terms, and an arbitrator is eragdeeliscover those
implied terms.”ld. at *4. (internal citations and quotation marks omitted) (emphasis in original).
“When there are two plausible interpretations of an agreement, then the arsichtice of one
over the other will be honoredIMC—-Agrico, 171 F.3dat 1328 (finding that he district court
erred in vacating an award\vhich the arbitratoreasonablynterpreted the CBA'’s provisions in
reviewing the appropriateness of the type of discipline imposed).

Rules 23(P) and 24(B)f the CBA here provide that “the grievance may be appealed to
an impartial arbitratorandthat the “[d]ecisions of the Arbitrator shall have the authority only to
rule on the interpretation and application of this Agreement and shall have no powleertadl
to or detract from the Agreement.” [ECF No.-8at 78]. Rule 23(D) ontemplates a range of
disciplines—none of which is mandated by the CB®iscipline for just cause, if imposed,
depending on the nature of the incider@n rangefrom a written reprimand, to suspension, to
dismissal.” [d. at 5] (emphasis added). Most importantly, Rule 23(S) expressly provides for the
modification of an imposed discipline through the appeals process, including an arbitrati
proceeding “If at any point in thisappeals procedur@r in an arbitration proceedingit is
determined thathe discipline imposed should be modifidtte employee will be paid for all lost

time in excess of such modified disciplindd.[at 7] (emphasis added).
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The fact that the CBA provides language that is at least open to an interpretatite th
arbitrator can modify an employee’s discipline through the grievamoegs is sufficient for this
Court to affirm the Arbitration Award andiward on Remand her&eeFla. Power Corp. v. Irit
Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Sys. CounciBUnt'| Bhd. of Elec. Workers, Local Union 4337 F.2d
680, 681 (11th Cir. 1988) (affirming arbitrator’'s decision to reinstate employe wiee CBA
gave management the right diisciple, suspend, and discharge employees but subjected that
decision to adjustment through the grievance procedure bargained for by the).[Butiesee
Warrior & Gulf Nav. Co. v. United Steelworkers of Am., ABIO-CLC, 996 F.2d 279, 280
(11th Cir. 199) (finding that the arbitrator had no discretion to reinstate employee where the
CBA expresslyprovided that employee was “subject to immediate discharge” for secoumek fail
of a drug test)

Veolia’'s arguments that the Arbitrator exceeded his authorifgmuRule 23(P) and Rule
24(B) of the CBA by modifying the contract are also unavailtege Bruno’s, Inc. v. United
Food & Commercial Workers Int’l Union, Local 165358 F.2d 1529, 1532 n.4 (11th Cir. 1988)
(“In this Court,’no modification clauses are not considered a reliable basis for overturning an
arbitrator's interpretation of a collective bargaining agreemems the Court has stated, the
CBA's language provides for the modification of discipline through an atbitrgtrocess. Iis
not the Court’s place to weigh the seriousned3eall's offenseor to reevaluate the merits of the
dispute.Because the Arbitrator explained in the Arbitration Award and the Award on Remand
that he was interpreting and applying the CBA, and becaudahe fact, interpret and apply
the CBA, this Court’'s review of the matter must conclude there. The Court findshéhat t
Arbitration Award and the Award on Remand indeed draw their essence from thes€&BWise

Alloys 1, 807 F.3d at 1272, because the language and context of the CBA show the parties’

13



intention to allow for an arbitrator’'s modification of disciplireee Wise Alloys, 1642 F.3d at
1351.

In support of its argument for vacatiteolia relies heavily oi€ontico Int’l, Inc. v. Local
160, Leather Goods, Plastics & Novelty Workers, AFIO, 738 F. Supp. 1262 (E.D. Mo.
1990), in which the district court held that an arbitrator exceeded his authbritiiat case, an
employee had been discharged for falling asleep on the job, and the arbéhastated the
employee, substituting a 3fay suspension for the discharde. at 1266. While the case is
superficially similar to the instant action, the analogy fails when comparingrigaage of the
CBAs. InConticq sleeping on the job during work hours resultedutomatictermination under
the CBA.Id. at 1264. Here, Rule 23(D) of the CBA provided for disciplinary actions for “just
cause’rangingfrom a “written reprimand, to suspension, to dismissalbne of whch were
automatic. While Rule 23(B)(2) of the CBA does authorize suspension for a major pffiecise
as extreme negligence, [ECF No.-87at 4], the Arbitration Award never uses the words
“extreme negligence,” instead referring to the “rules infractian"s&rious” and something that
“properly warrants serious discipline.” [ECF Nolkt 12]. Additionallythe optional temporary
suspension undedRule 23(B)(2)of the CBA hereis completely different from thautomatic
terminationunder the CBA irContica

Regarding Veolia’'s argument that it is impossible for it to comply with the Arbitratio
Award and the Award on Remand due to Beall’'s continued disqualificaticBARTA the
Court finds that it need neteigh those issuest this time. First, argumentstraised before the
arbitrator are not properly before this Court on a motion to vaSe&Hill, 814 F.2dat 1199.

And second, the Award on Remand addresses the impossibility argumesdnhehsicussing

% Decisions of ther circuit and district courts as only persuasive autharid not bindingupon this Cart. See
Bonner v. City of Prichard, Ala661 F.2d 1206, 1211 (11th Cir. 1981)
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Veolia's potential options for reinstating Beall’s certification and SFRTA&\w administration
of the TriRail system.[ECF No. 481]. The proper route for Veolia to address any further
difficulties with respect to reinstating Beall is through arbitraiemprovided in the CBA.
CONCLUSION

The Court is mindful “of the law’s insistence that arbitration losers who résdrte
courts continue to lose in all but the most unusual circumstances, of which this is nc@eme.”
Wiregrass Metgl 2016 WL 4702017at *1. The incident leading to the grievance in this case
occurredover four years ago on September 26, 2012, and Beall was removed from service on
October 1, 2012. This case has now languished for several years through two pgsdeefdire
the Arbitrator as well as this instant action in federal court because “[a]sftemoh@appens,
instead of accepting it and moving on, the loser moved the district court to set aside the
arbitration award.’ld.; see also Saturn Telecomms. Servs., Inc. v. Covad Commc;rs6Gd-.
Supp. 2d 1278, 1279 (S.D. Fla. 2008) (“Everyone suppodedés arbitration. At least until
arbitration goes badly.”).The parties in this case bargained for the arbitrator, and not a federal
court, to interpret the provisions of their collective bargairaggeement. Since the arbitrator’
award was based on a reasonable interpretation of language in the agrédmae@purt]
concludés] that the arbitrator acted within the scope of his authority and issued an award that
drew its essence from the partiagreement. SeelMC-Agrico, 171 F.3dat 1328-29The Court
is not here for the parties to relitigate the merits of the grievance but, @hemust determine
whether the Arbitrator acted within the bosrnaf the CBA in the interpretation contained in the
Arbitration Award and the Award on Remand. Because the Court concludes thabitnatér
did not stray from his authority under the CBA, the Arbitrator’s conclusions must beluphel

Accordingly, it is herebDRDERED AND ADJUDGED that
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2016.

CC:

(1)

(2)

3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

(7)

(8)

United Transportation Union’s Motion for Summary Judgn&@€F No. 37] is
GRANTED;

Veolias Motion for Summary JudgmefiECF No. 38] is DENIED;

Veolia's Motion to Supplement the RecddCF No. 52] is GRANTED;

United Transportation Union’s Motion to StrikeCF No. 53] is DENIED;

Veoliads Motion to Vacate Arbitration Award or, in the Alternative, for
Additional Briefing[ECF No. 58] is DENIED;

Veolia, its officers, and its employees &B&RkDERED to fully comply with
FMCS Award No. 13-54528:and

This case iCLOSED for administrativepurposesand any pending motiorae
DENIED as moot.

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 58(a), judgment shall be entered for

Defendantind against Plaintifh a separate document.

DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this3th day of September,

oV 4

DARRIN P. GAYLE
UNITED STATES RICT JUDGE

Magistrate Judge Turnoff
All Counsel of Record
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